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INFORMATION 

The defendant having waived in open court prosecution by indictment, the United 

States Attorney for the District of New Jersey charges: 

COUNT ONE 
(Hobbs Act Robbery) 

On or about November 1, 2017, in Salem County, in the District of New Jersey and 

elsewhere, the defendant, 

JEFFERY EDMONDS, 

did knowingly and willfully obstruct, delay, and affect interstate commerce and the movement of 

articles and commodities in interstate commerce, by robbery of The Store, in Upper Pittsgrove 

Township, of approximately $179.00 in United States currency, and committed and threatened to 

commit physical violence upon individuals in furtherance of a plan and purpose to obstruct, 

delay, and affect interstate commerce and the movement of articles and commodities in interstate 

commerce by robbery. 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1951, and Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 2. 



COUNT TWO 
(Bank Robbery) 

On or about November 6, 2017, in Cumberland County, in the District of New Jersey and 

elsewhere, the defendant, 

JEFFERY EDMONDS, 

did knowingly, by force, violence, and intimidation, take from the person and presence of 

employees of Ocean First Bank in Upper Deerfield Township, approximately $8,677.00 in 

United States currency belonging to, and in the care, custody, control, management, and 

possession of the Ocean First Bank, a financial institution whose deposits were then insured by 

the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2113(a) and Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 2. 



COUNT THREE 
(Possession of a Firearm in Furtherance of a Crime of Violence) 

On or about November 6, 2017, in Cumberland County, in the District of New Jersey and 

elsewhere, the defendant, 

JEFFERY EDMONDS, 

during and in relation to a crime of violence for which he may be prosecuted in a court of the 

United States, specifically the bank robbery set forth in Count Two of this Information, did 

knowingly, in furtherance of such crime, possess a firearm. 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 924(c)(l)(A)(i), and Title 18, 

United States Code, Section 2. 



COUNT FOUR 
(Bank Robbery) 

On or about November 14, 2017, in Salem County, in the District of New Jersey and 

elsewhere, the defendant, 

JEFFERY EDMONDS, 

did knowingl y, by force, violence, and intimidation, take from the person and presence of 

employees of Fulton Savings Bank in Alloway Township, approximately $4,275 .00 in United 

States currency belonging to, and in the care, custody, control , management, and possession of 

Fulton Savings Bank, a financial institution whose deposits were then insured by the Federal 

Deposit Insurance Corporation. 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2113(a) and Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 2. 
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